
EARLY HISTORY OF ABERDEEN 

The briefest history of the beginnings of Aberdeen must necessarily i nclude 

a few data relating to the settlement of the Dakotas. II Dakotah" is an Indian 

name suggesting a great and broad dowain, peopled by friends. The first informa­

.tion of Dakota. was obtained f rom the report of Lewis and Clark, who were the first 

white men to explore the Miss ouri River to its source. Tbeir expedition was made 

dur ing 1803 and 1806 , but t he report was not published unt il 1814 . The account 

of t he extreme cold and other r~rdships wbich t he explorers enc o~~tered was not 

s uch as t o make t his land invit ing to many peoTlle. Consequent l y Minnesota, 

I owa , Nebraska, Kansas and Colorado became the "Promised Land l1 of t he eastern 

emigr ant s . Dako t 8. was considered a part of tho Great Amer ican Desert, a land of 

barren s ands in summer , and of snow and frosts in wint er. Some time in or about 

1850 a few hardy adventurers settled in Dakota and their crops of wheat bore 

u~mista~ble evidence t hat t hi s was indeed a goodly land. By 1858 there were 

t hriving se ttlements upon Indian l ands along the Missouri River and t hese lands 

were finally ceded in that yen.r. Subsequently , a move was lll8.de for the f orma­

tion of the Territory of Dakota and this Act was pa.ssed i n 1861. The gradual in­

flux of people continued until 1875 when t he Dakota boom may be said to have be­

g~~. At this time gold was discover~d in t he Black Hills and t he papers published 

such wonderful stor i es of t :l.e precious nugge ts f ound there, t hat adventurers 

flocked in from every direotion. Not only did they find gold but they found 

awaiting t hem, millions of acres of the very best of land and the most healthful 

c ountry in t he world. 

After the Indian War, probably in 1865 , Francis Rawndelle established him­

self in trade at Rondell, and anglicized t he f or m of his name. In 1872, the 

nor th half of what is now Brown County wa.s created as ]ead~e County, and the 

south half as Mills County. ~mont the first settlers were the Johnson Brothers, 

who settled at Yorkville on the James River shortly a.fter 1874. The population 

increased more rapidly after t l1is time. 
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In 1878 t he map was reconstructed as at present, and Beadle and Mills 

County united to form Brown County, named for Alfred Brown of Hutchinson County, 

who was t hen a representative in the legislature which created the county. The 

denter of Brown County was located at an equal distance from the two ranges of 

hills, with the James River running nearly through the center north and south. 

At a point less than two miles from the geographical center, the Elm river came 

in from t he West. 

Brown County was organized and the firs t officers elected in 1880. At this 

time Columbia was chosen as t he temporary seat of government, the county seat. 

This gave rise to much dissension, and was finally changed. 

The outstanding event of t his early period was the descent of the Great 

Storm which occurred in October, 1880. Beginning with a snowfall, it developed 

into a raging bli zzard and on the t hird day became a ver itable hurricane. Many 

are the tales of suffering and deprivation wh ich the pioneers were forced to 

undergo. People were reduced to extremes in the matter of f ood and supplies of 

all sorts were almost exhausted. Bruised barley pancakes, beans without salt 

pork , sometimes without even salt, formed the menus. If one can believe news­

paper accounts, the greatest suffering came from a lack of tobaccol It was 

purely mental and iW~sinary , but neverthel ess acut e . Because there was none to 

be had , men who seldom used t he weed were consumed with longing for it . The 

following account is taken from an early clipping. "A man named Hilger started 

across country for Watertown to try to get in some supplies. When he reached 

Columbia, he found that he would be short of oats before he reached his destina­

tion , on acc ount of the time it woul d t ake him to drive around the lakes. He 

struck a settler who had about t en bushels of oats and tried to buy some. 

The settler insisted tr.at he wanted the oats for seed and refused to sell at aIJ;f 

price. Mr. Hilger offered f abulous sums f or a srooll quant ity but the settler 

apparently preferred to keep the oats . No t r ade could be made, so Mr. Hilger 



prepared to deDart . 

Dig plug of tobacco. 
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Just as he was about to leave, he pulled from his pocket ~ 

The settler, who hRd not seen any tobacco for two months, 

ca lled him bDck and wanted to 1)urcnase the tobacco. It was now Mr. Hilger's turn 

to bargain, and he left with a sack of oats for which he had given in exchange 

a s much tobacco as one could buy for ten cents! II Another story is told of Cla.re 

Johnson and Bill Young whose names will bo recognized by early rosidi:mts . It 

was learned that the latt~r men had succeeded in getting in some supplies. The 

Johnson place was sepRrated from town by n greet expanse of wat0r, and two men, 

who hEl.d been living on barley pancakes for t hree weeks secured a boat and under­

took to row over t here. They were gone several hours, and practically the 

whole town, supposing t hat they would have a. boatload of provisions, went down 

to welcome t hem on their r eturn. Before the boat came anywhere near the towns­

people, one of the occupants stood up in the boat, excitealy waving something in 

the air, nearly capsizing the boat. It was a long plug· of standard navy tobacco, 

and not another t h ing did they have in the boat.1I 

The Junction of the two railro Ads had been called Grand Junction, but 

Alexander Mitchell, then President of the Chicago, Milwaukee and St. Paul Railway, 

named it Aberdeen, after his boyhood home in Scotland. The original plat of the 

town was four blocks square , now t hat section of town bounded a-p proximately by 

Railroad avenue on the north, Wash ington on the east, FGurth Avenue on the 

South, and Second Street, West. This plat was made ·by Charles E. Pryor, and was 

filed January 3rd, 1881. 

R. S. Ellis, who was one of the first men to hold the office of Justice of 

the Peace, brought into town a large circus tent which he used as a hotel until 

he built one of sod . The latter was 30 by 50 feet, and three feet thick, and was 

built on the site of the present CommerCial Club . 

In the spring of 1881, a fet tents, board shanties, and sod houses formed the 

nucleus about which Aberdeen was. to rise like a "Sphinx in the Desert ." People 
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began to pour in, but the greatest impetus wa.s received when a wagon train of 50 

horses and 75 men, came across country from Cass County, and located in or near 

Aberdeen. ~his w~,s on June 6, 188l. 

July 6, 1881, the first Chicago, Milwaukee and St. Paul train reached 

Aberdeen and from that time there was a steady growth. Th~ lands were held by 

the gover~ent for actual settlers who could secure them by complying with the 

Homestead, Preemption or Timber Culture Act. There were at this time many 

evidences of tha work of mound builders. They had left traces in a long series 

of mounds, dotting the banks of the Elm River. 

August of this year saw the 9rganization of t wo newspapers, the Dakota 

pioneer, and tho' Aberdeen Pionder, t he first to be published in the county. They 

were printed from the same press, and the same day, August 4, 1881. This is one 

of the first indications of the spirit of rivalry ~id competition in this western 

country. The new town of Frederick, about 26 miles north of Aberdeon, wished to 

have a newspaper, and induccm0~ts W0re held out by tho towDspeonlc, which ware 

instrumental in getting the Va.Vers started. The Dakota Pioneer was tho first to 

come off th0 press, but owing to delay, the t08ID wh ich was to carry tho vapor to 

Frederick did not get started Q~til fhe .Aberdeen Pioneer was well on its way. 

The team which arr ived first at Frederick WQuld, of course, get the most subscrip­

tions. The two teams started after nightfall for the midnight race over the 

trackless prairie. The Dakota Pioneer team }ost its bearings, so the Aberdeen 

Pioneer team reached the town first. It was, of course, long after midnight and 

the men in the latter team deCided to retire and get an early start in the morn-

ing. Not so with the venders of the Dakota pioneert Irrmediately upon arrival 

they proceeded from house to house, arOUSed the occupants from their slumbers, and 

had everybody subscribed before the other representative appeared on the scene. 

, John H. Drake was the editor of the Dakota Pioneer. Newspapers ware an important 

element at the time, because lega l notice of final proof on land ha.d to be pub­

liShed in the district in which the land was located. 
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The Jumper and Bliss Corr,pany wt::re buildi:i.1g a store during the stunnler. Be­

fore tha train came as far as Aberdeen, they were obliged to cart the lumber 45 

miles overland, probably from A"."lo.over. This builcling occupied the site where the 

Hagarty building now stands, and housed t h8 first postoffice in the town. In one 

corner of the store, Jumper and Bliss also opened the first bank, afterwards known 

as thu Merchaats and Mechanics Barue. The opening date was August 25, 188l. 

Twci1ty-·throe pupils comprised the first school, which was opened August 29th 

of this same year. Mrs. C. H. Pleasants was th", first teacher ~.nd R. S. Ellos 

one of the first trust ~es. The school was held in a claim shftck, a.nd in t'£:lo spring 

of 1882 ther" were two of these shanties, with board roofs and board sides, located 

on the sit e of tho pruscnt Junior High Scho ol. 

The first child born in Aberdeen was a son of Mr. and Mrs. Co' A. Fowler, 

and he was born in 1881. Mr. Fowler built the first sod house in Aberdeen. 

The first marriage of an Aberdeen resident occurred. in September, 1881. 

Hugh Blanding was IT'arried in }f:innesot8.. Upon the return of the briade and groom, 

t hey were met by a large group of f riends with a hay rake, and were escorted 

around the town, finally being deposited in front of a saloon, where they were 

obliged to set up a treat. 

Aberdeen boasted the largest flowing artesian well. This was the first 

artesian well t8.pped in this sect ion of the sta.te. It had a depth of 960 feet, 

and was at one time considered one of the wonders of the world. The well waS 

sunk by the Mi lwaukee Railway, at a point on its right of way, several hundred 

feet north of the present Brown County court house. The well not only spouted 

wator, but it belched fo rth sand in tons. Much of this sand was USGd to coat 

several blocks of Main straot. It is r eported that people came from as far as 

England to seo t h is well! 

Another boast of Aberdoen was tl~t it had the largest hotel west of Minneapo-

lis, tho Sherman House, Jam0S Ringrose, proprietor. To celebrate the opening 

of the SherlT'an House, November 4, 1881 a largo reception &~d dance was held. 
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The county was scoured fa.r and wide for a ll available women. There were 37 in 

attendance at the pa rty , although there we r e t wice that numb.:::r of men. 

The first Christmas, 1881, WD.S celebrated by a. Community Christmas tree. 

A railroad agent had been commissioned to s ecure a tree, and when it '?rrived i t 

was only five feet t8.11. This did not daunt our pioncers--they set to work to 

produce e. l o.rg~r trr3e. A l Cl.rgc piece of timber WD.S f ound nnd p laced in 8.n up­

ri ght pos i tio:1, ~1ailed to both floor nnd coiling. Arms of laths wore (1tt nched 

to t his, en d p ieces of overgrucn, t eKen from tho r 0al tree, wer e ti ed to each 

18th. The decora tions consist ed of popco~n ~nd cranberri0s. The tree was s ot 

up in t he store of 3t:: .9,rd, Gago, (1nd Ben-rd, located at what is now the corner of 

Ma in And T~1ird Av onue. John H. Dra.ke performed t he duties of Sant n. Clause, f).nd 

ther0 Wf').S n gift for everyone. 

Not much snow fell that wint er, and bui lding was c ontinued t hrough most of 

the year. 

The Aberdeen i~ati onal :Bank was established in 1881, as the Brown County 

Bank. 

In April? 1882, a petit i on was presented asking for city incorporation, 

and on June 5, 1882, the first city election was held. E. H. Alley was the first 

president of th8 Board of Trustees, and served until the next election in April. 

The Northwest er n Railway came in 1882, and the United States land offi ce 

was built in t:1at year. The latter wal said to be the finest building of it s 

kind in the Unit ed states. 

In the summer of 1882, the settlers wore much alarmed by an Indian Hoax. 

A report spread like wildfire , that C\ numbor of settlers had been massacred in 

Spink County. A p~rty of men had s et out to est~blish tho town of La Foon and 

to liven things up , had pcrpetrat od a joke . A few of the men dressed up in 

ragemuffin st y10 , ftnd letting out a truo Indi ::m yell, had 8.ttfl.cked two German 

youths. ThCj f elled one (who wa s r eally the conf aderate of the jokers) with a 
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blow, which so frightened the other, thnt he waited to see or hear no marc, but set 

out on Ec dend run for Redfield, the rodskins in pursuit 1 Arrived at camp, h~ 

told thu story of being at t acked by s avetg.3s, of tthe slaying of his companion, and 

his lli~irbreadth 0scapc. Authorities SGnt word to Fort Sissoton, and Regulars of 

the U. S. troops were ordered to move for attack~ The Northwestern president came 

up from Huron on an engine at high speed, and said he would transport help from 

there at once. Citizens were requested to have firearms of every description 

in readinesi3. A crack a.ruv 30 or 40 men on horses were dispatched to the camp. 

A short distance from to~n, they met men from the camp who had started out to look 

for the fri ght ened German boy, and who explained that it wa s all a joke. 

The first Presbyterian Church was bui lt in 1882. The building is not in use 

as a warehouse of the Dakota Central Telephone Company , and is located in the 

neighborhood of the Thompson Yar ds. The first public wedding to be held in this 

church was tha.t of Mr. And Mrs. T. C. Gage , on June 1 , 1885. 

In 1887, Aberdeen bad inc reased so rtjmarkably that it was called Dakota's 

"Young Chicago.". 

Up to this time, Aberdeen and Columbia had beon in dissension as to which 

should be the county sent. In 1887 Aberdeen obt .'\ined t he necessary vote for the 

removal of the rec ords from Co lumbi.'l to Aberdeen. Subsequently, this election wns 

held to be voiCe by t he Supreme Court, and t he records were carted back to Columbia r 

Then bitter strife continued between the t wo towns for nearly three years. How­

ever, at the genert".l election In 1890 Aberdeen was an easy winner over Columbia, 

and the cOwlty seat has always remained here. 

An early history would not be complete if it did not contain mention of the 

great bli zzard on January 12, 1888. The d~r dawned bright and balmy. The fore­

noon was so mild that residants \Ver8 remarking on the magnificent climate. But the 

stor;:n we.s phenominal in its suddem1ess and severity. While it wa.S even thawing 

in -p laces, there Ca.IIlO a s eV0re northwest wind . The moisture came with the wind 

like a waV 0 of de~lso smoko, an d it gr ow much colder immediately. Strange 
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eloctrical phenomena occurred. In t~ing bDkcd potatoes from the oven, the fork 

emit t ed three flashes upon touch~ng the potato. Other shocks were sustained 

when people touched a stove pipe, or started to shake down a stove. An incident 

always to be remembered by the ps.rticipants took place when the storm was raging 

at its highest notch. An effo~t was made by some of the court house employees 

to get to George Perry1s house, ablock away. The court house was then situated 

on what is now Aldrich Park. Many attempts W8re made to brave the storm, but 

all proved useless. Finally, John Houlihan, register of deeds, came to the reS­

cue with the suggestion that they go out with a line. A ball of twine was secured 

and one end was fastened to Mr. Houlihan and the other inside the office. S. C. 

Hedger was one of five m~n who made up the procession. Two lady alerks occupied 

chairs, and rode in state. Various set-backs were encount0red, but the goal was 

finally reached. The ro were many sad tales of people lost in th0 blizzard. One 

of the most pathetic was that of th:; pretty 19 ~r ear old school taacher at Horth­

ville, who att empted to reach tho place where she boarded. This was only 30 

yards from the school house. See became bewildered and was lost. Her body was 

found ahalf mile from the school house. 

In 1889, both Dakotas were admitted as States. The Acts were purposely 

shuffled by the President, so no one knows which was admitted to the Union first. 

One of the important events of the next few years was the Grain Exposition 

which opened September 30, 1895, and was held in the Grain Palace. This was the 

event of the season, and the best bands were imported from Chicago to provide 

entertainment for the crowds of people who came. The exposition was presided 

over by the Grain Lady, who Was called the Q.uoen of Aberdeen. She was wholly 

dressed in grains and gra.sses. Her skirt was made of wheat from which the 

leaves had been stri.pped, and a.rrDnged in even rO,7S with the heads down, to re­

semble plaits as was the style at that time. Above these were two rows 



of oats, a.rranged in a. similar m:-tIme r, for flowers and frills. The sleeves were 

made of oats, tho heads hanging down gr A.cafully around tho arms and resembling 

"Ooint lacQ. On her hoad she woro a crown of gr[l.ins, gr.'3.sses and flowors . 

.Around her neck hung [1 chain of sun flowar bonds. In he r left haud she cn-rried 

A. bunch of flowers while hor right hnnd grnsped somo flax. A pr~,irio pigeon 

was p osed on her writt. 

In 1897 ther e were such heavy snows that,the to\vn wns andangered by the 

resulting high wator. When the bro0k u~ c ."!mc, the floodS' wero quito serious. 

In 1898 the city turned out en masse and tendered to William McKinley an 

enthusiastic reception. In 1900 Roosevelt cnme to the city and was gi ven a great 

ovation. 

On March 14, 1901, Mr. Carnegie (through the efforts of Senator Y~le) 

offered $15,000 for D. library if the citizens would r rlise $1500 c year. He asked 

that it bear the nQme of his friend, Alexnnder Mitchell. The gift of a site 

at Nicollet (now Sixth Avenue ) rmd Lincoln Street W.'1S offered to the city by 

Charles H. Prior add W[1.S accepted by the City Council. 

St. Luke's Ho~pital was built in 1902, The United States Post office ~ 

1904, ond the court house W!l.S dedicated the snme year. 

From t hi s timQ , the h istory of Aberdeen is recorded in newspapers, articles 

[1nd books, so that the eVAnts of later years nrc not difficult to discover by 

those intcrestGd. 

Mattie Wjndell Allen 
Aberdeen, So. Dak~, J~nu~ry 30, 1930 
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